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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AREH
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Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building
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WEBSITE
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GHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BEZE-_E_=F+-A=+—-HLEEZ2RE

Revenue increased 15.3% to approximately HK$2,067.3 million
(for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$1,793.0 million).

Gross profit increased 18.1% to approximately HK$501.7
million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$424.8 million).

Gross profit margin increased 0.6 percentage points to 24.3%
(for the year ended 31 December 2022: 23.7%).

Operating profit was approximately HK$144.1 million (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$91.8 million).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$104.2 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$75.5 million).

A proposed final dividend in respect of the year ended 31
December 2023 of HK5.0 cents per share of the Company (the
“Share”) was recommended, together with the interim dividend
of HK2.0 cents per Share for the six months ended 30 June
2023 was declared, representing a total dividend of HK7.0
cents per Share (for the year ended 31 December 2022: HK4.0
cents per Share) and the annual dividend payout ratio of 48.6%
(for the year ended 31 December 2022: 38.5%).

Ming Fai International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFFEHBEME

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Years ended 31 December
BZ+t=-A=t+—-HLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ZE-NE ZZZZF T T CZZZ=§
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FET FET THET
Revenue ION 2,043,095 1,353,099 1,435,826 1,793,025 2,067,273
Profit/(loss) before REFTERLAD
income tax wAl/ (E18) 127,102 101,537 (94,405) 89,986 144,074
Income tax expenses FTsRiF> (35,022) (26,937) (3,520) (20,144) (48,443)
Profit/(loss) for the year EREM/(BR) 92,080 74,600 (97,925) 69,842 95,631

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
REEE REzKk&E

As at 31 December

W+=A=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“T-hF —E-FF C—T-—-F —F--fF C—B-=f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT TAT FAT FAET THT
ASSETS BE

Non-current assets EREEE 569,549 610,755 593,988 545,131 558,312
Current assets TEEE 1,269,396 1,192,680 1,144,736 1,204,330 1,406,916
Total assets BERE 1,838,945 1,803,435 1,738,724 1,749,461 1,965,228

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EzkEE
Total equity Bl 1,130,906 1,192,334 1,094,446 1,131,481 1,193,216
Non-current liabilities ERBER 17,905 24,153 22,574 21,609 23,416
Current liabilities TEAE 690,134 586,948 621,704 596,371 748,596
Total liabilities BEQE 708,039 611,101 644,278 617,980 772,012
Total equity and liabilities HREXNAE 1,838,945 1,803,435 1,738,724 1,749,461 1,965,228

RERRZERARAR | —T-=FF#K 05



KEY SHAREHOLDER VALUE INDICES
TERREEERZ

Revenue Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company
LN AATREEAEERR(FR)
HKS$ million B &S 7T HK$ million B&EHIT
(% Change Z &) H 5 tb) (% Change Z &) HE 7 tk)
2019 2,043.1 2019 97.9
—E-NEF (-0.5%) —T—hE (-2.3%)
2020 1,353.1 2020 79.0
s 2 (:33.8%) BT (-19.3%)
2021 14358 (93.5) 2021
==—1F (+6.1%) (A i) T
2022 1,793.0 2022 755
—T--fF (+24.9%) —E—— (N/A TN5E )

o (+15.3%) —g-= (+38.0%)

Basic earnings/(loss) per Share attributable to Dividend per Share
owners of the Company BRES
KARNEEABREERERRR (&HB)
HK cents A1l HK cents 71l
(% Change # &) & 5 tk) (% Change # &) & 5 tk)
2019 135 2019 45
—T-NF (-2.9%) —T—NEF (-35.7%)
2020 10.8 2020 25
—ToTE (-20.0%) ke e 24 (-44.4%)
(128) 2021 2021 =
2022 10.4 2022 4.0
=ER= g3 (N/A T3E ) T (N/A 3@ )

2, 22, M
=& (+38.5%) —g-=f (+75 o%

—Eg-=
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Ming Fai International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am
pleased to present the audited annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

2023 was a year with both challenges and opportunities. The global
economy has been affected by factors such as high inflation pressure,
continuous interest rate hikes by central banks of many countries and
high interest rates, which have intensified the uncertainty. Coupled
with geopolitical tensions, there is a risk that further economic
growth may be impeded, limiting the recovery of consumption and
adversely affecting the willingness and purchasing power of tourists.
Despite the unclear economic outlook, the global tourism industry
has shown a gradual recovery. According to the first United Nations
World Tourism Organisation (“UNWTO") World Tourism Barometer
published in 2024, international tourism ended 2023 at 88% of
pre-pandemic levels, with an estimated 1.3 billion international
arrivals. According to the UNWTO Tourism Recovery Tracker, both
international air capacity and passenger demand recovered about
90% of pre-pandemic levels through October 2023 (The International
Air Transport Association). Global occupancy rates in accommodation
establishments reached 65% in November 2023, slightly above 62%
in November 2022 (based on STR data).

As the global tourism industry gradually recovers, the Group’s overall
performance has been steadily improving. The Group recorded an
overall revenue of approximately HK$2,067.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, an increase of 15.3% as compared with
approximately HK$1,793.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, in which the hospitality supplies business, operating supplies
and equipment (“OS&E"”) business and health care and hygienic
products business contributed approximately HK$1,697.2 million,
HK$193.3 million and HK$176.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$1,376.9 million, HK$149.4 million and HK$266.7
million), respectively.

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$501.7 million, representing an increase of 18.1%
as compared with approximately HK$424.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. The gross profit margin of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 increased 0.6 percentage points to
24.3% (for the year ended 31 December 2022: 23.7%). Profit
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately HK$104.2 million (for the year
ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$75.5 million).

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRERE
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AAZBERERPERBRERERA2A ([XAAQ
A REHBAR (KEIAEE]) KA
BEAEEHE-_ZE-_=F+=-_HA=+—H
IEFEZEBRFEESE -

R CHERRBMERBYTN—F 2R
REZINSEKRES  ZERTEEMER
MEESEMNTEREZE  THREEGEL
Bl e M EMEBURERSR - KEE—FIER
SR ZEAER R TEEINEER
VEBREBRNREERMIBED -&F
REAM=THN  2REEXCDERETE
BIHR - REBSBEERREAS (B
Bt RREES]) — T _MFEHOEOIL
RIREERE BEZT_=FK BEIK
BIREZEKRITAIKF 288% - BIBR ki A
RIFHPZRN3ME - RIBH S B R IREAS
MRBXEEEMES BE_T_=F+
A(BEM=ERHeE)  BRMEENIR
IREF K MEERRITAIKF ZH90% °
R-ZZE_=F+—-A 2XEBAEXE
65% BER-_ZE-——F+—B162% (I8
IRSTREUR) -

BEERIRIREXEZFPEFH NEBMHER
¥ETITEBSRA - BHE_T _=F1+_A4
—t+—HLEFE AEBEHSEBKALY
20673 EBA L REBEE_Z_—_F+=
A=+—BLEFE2Z2#%1,793.08&8 8T
F153% ERBEHERER - EEA R
REE((EERRREE]) EZBARERZ
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
TEHES (&)

The Group believes that the current business environment is complex
and ever-changing, and making good use of production bases is a
key element for achieving long-term sustainability. The Group
operates production lines for hospitality supplies products in the
Kingdom of Cambodia (“Cambodia“). These production lines benefit
from abundant labour resources and a favourable geographical
location. While reducing production costs, these production lines
have also achieved the synergistic effect of efficient production and
potential business expansion for the Group. While leveraging these
production lines to meet current business development needs, the
Group will also strive to explore the potential business opportunities
in other surrounding countries in the Southeast Asia region. The
Group will continue to maintain market sensitivity, actively utilise the
production lines, timely adjust and strengthen the capacity expansion
in Southeast Asia, and further accelerate the exploration process of
OS&E business, so as to take advantage of the cost-effectiveness of
low tariffs and the broad business opportunities available in the
Southeast Asian market.

Looking ahead, although the trend of globalisation and diversification
of consumption is intensifying, potentially benefiting the tourism
sector, the global economic environment is becoming more complex
and significant downward pressure on the economy persists. The
Group adopts a prudent attitude towards the future development of
the tourism industry, will actively prepare for future challenges and
opportunities, and adjust our development strategies according to
future trends, so as to support the stable development of the Group’s
business.

To ensure the long-term sustainability of the business, the Group will
actively practise the concept of green development and production
from its own business scope to embrace the opportunities brought
by the circular economy. In the future, the Group will actively explore
more possibilities for sustainable production. This includes, but is not
limited to, exploring new environmentally friendly materials,
alternative technologies, innovative product processes, and improving
the recyclability, reusability and biodegradability of packaging
materials, to promote the alignment of social value and commercial
value.

Ming Fai International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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The recovery of the global tourism industry depends on various
factors, including the economy and geopolitics. The Group will
actively prepare for the challenges that lie ahead and closely monitor
market changes, timely adjust the operational strategies, continuously
improve the product portfolio to meet the ever-changing market
demand with high-quality and diversified products and services.
Additionally, the Group will place great values on the long-term
customer development, gain insightfully understanding of customer
needs, and establish stable and long-lasting cooperative relationships.
While steadily improving the existing businesses, the Group will also
actively leverage the resource advantages of regions worldwide to
inject greater momentum into the overall sustainable development of
the Group.

On behalf of the Board, | am sincerely grateful to all Shareholders
and business partners for their support and trust over the years. | also
highly appreciate to our management and employees for their loyalty,
professionalism and contributions, and to work with the Group in a
challenging environment.

CHING Chi Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBN®mREDM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Key Financial Highlights

Set out below are the consolidated key financial highlights of the
Group:

g JE)

FEMBERE

UNTEINAEEGEERHHRHE

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1+—-HLEE

2023 2022 Change
—EBC=E T o

HKS$ million HK$ million %

mEET  BEET HAl

Revenue WA 2,067.3 1,793.0 15.3%

Gross Profit EH 501.7 424.8 18.1%

Profit attributable to owners of the Company <2 A1 B A FE 15 3 A 104.2 75.5 38.0%
Basic earnings per Share attributable to KREIHEEAEGEER

owners of the Company (HK cents) EARBH GEM) 14.4 10.4 38.5%
Diluted earnings per Share attributable to RREHEE AEGEER

owners of the Company (HK cents) ESERR ) 14.4 10.4 38.5%

Dividend per Share (HK cents) BRRE CEML) 7.0 4.0 75.0%

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total revenue of the
Group recorded an increase of 15.3% to approximately HK$2,067.3
million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$1,793.0 million). For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
revenues of the hospitality supplies business, OS&E business and
health care and hygienic products business were approximately
HK$1,697.2 million, HK$193.3 million and HK$176.8 million (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$1,376.9 million,
HK$149.4 million and HK$266.7 million) respectively, which
represented 82.1%, 9.4% and 8.5% (for the year ended 31
December 2022: 76.8%, 8.3% and 14.9%) of the Group’s total
revenue respectively.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
increased 18.1% to approximately HK$501.7 million, compared with
approximately HK$424.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. Gross profit margin increased 0.6 percentage points to 24.3%
from 23.7% as compared with the prior year, benefiting from the
increase in revenues of the hospitality supplies business and OS&E
business and various measures taken by the Group, including
tightening cost control and more effort in sales of products with high
profit margins.

Ming Fai International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately HK$104.2 million (for the year
ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$75.5 million).

Earnings per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per Share attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 were HK14.4 cents
and HK14.4 cents (for the year ended 31 December 2022: HK10.4
cents and HK10.4 cents) respectively.

Final dividend

The Board had resolved to propose a final dividend of HK5.0 cents
per Share for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended
31 December 2022: HK3.0 cents). A sum of the interim and final
dividends for the year ended 31 December 2023 was expected to be
HK7.0 cents per Share (for the year ended 31 December 2022: HK4.0
cents). The proposed final dividend is subject to approval at the
annual general meeting to be held on 22 May 2024 (“"AGM").

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group has always pursued a prudent treasury management
policy and actively manages its liquidity position with standby
banking facilities to cope with daily operation and potential capital
demands for future development.

Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$375.1 million (as at 31 December
2022: approximately HK$305.4 million).

Net assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net assets was approximately
HK$1,193.2 million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$1,131.5 million).

EEBN®WR DN (E)

RDTER AEGRF

BE-E-=F+= =+ — Bk EESK
ANEEB ARIEEF 1042888 T (HE
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1448 W R144B WL (BE=_ZS__F+=
A=+—HLIFE 104810 %10.478L) o

RAERE

EESCRARRNEE S _=F+=A
_‘f'*ElJJ:iE/)fE?éé?EEﬁH B 15081l
(B2 -_—_F+-_A=+—HIEFE:3.0
B - BHEE T —_=F+-_A=+—
BEFEMNTHHEAHREZATAETR
708 LW(BE=E-_—F+=-_A=+—H1
FE 40581  -BREAREBEAFEBN=
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEEBS®WE DM (&)

Borrowings e
The borrowing structure, maturity profile and currency denomination AREEE 2 BEAHE - BB R EEET
of the Group’s borrowings are as follows: BWT :
Borrowing structure: EEEE -
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2023 2022
—EZ=fF —E-—
Effective interest rate  HK$ million Effective interest rate  HK$ million
BBRAR BEETR BRI = BEET
Secured bank borrowings Floating rate of 1.7% per annum 3.2 Floating rate of 1.7% per annum 4.5
with repayable on over 1-month Hong Kong Inter- over 1-month HIBOR
demand clause bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR")
BRREREERER —EABBRITEEFEE — AR BEBRITRFERFEE
ZEERBITEE ([BERBITRRXFERE]) MEFE1.7%2FEF =
MERE1.7% 2 ZFEHFE
Floating rate of the higher of 4.1 Floating rate of the higher of 6.3
1.7% per annum over 1-month 1.7% per annum over 1-month
HIBOR or the cost to the bank of HIBOR or the cost to the bank of
funding the borrowing funding the borrowing
—BREBRRITEXFER —[ERAEBRTRAEHFEE
MEFE1.7% MEFIE1.7%
RRTB/OBERF 2BEE RRTENRERAZBEE
2R E = ZIFBF| &
Floating rates ranging from 39.7 Floating rates ranging from 69.8
1.8%-1.82% per annum over 1.67%-1.82% per annum over
1-month Term Secured Overnight 1-month Term SOFR
Financing Rate (“SOFR")
—EAHRERBRAERE — {8 A BB EREREE F X
((ERBERMERE]) MAFERE1.67%%E1.82%
mAFERE1.8%E1.82% ZIFBHE
2R E =
Floating rate of the higher of - Floating rate of the higher of 27.8
1.7% per annum over 1-month 1.7% per annum over 1-month
London Inter-bank Offered Rate LIBOR or the cost to the bank of
(“"LIBOR") or the cost to the bank of funding the borrowing
funding the borrowing
— A mARTEEHFEE —EARBBITRRFEE
((MRBRITEARFER]) MEFIE.7%
MER=1.7% HMITBNREN A B EE
RRTHROBERL 2B BE 2B =
23 =
Secured bank borrowings Fixed rate of - Fixed rate of -
without repayable on 1.4% per annum 1.4% per annum
demand clause
I IR EREE R FFE1.4% FHE1.4%
ZEERBITEE Z B EF R 2 [EE 7 &
Secured other borrowings Fixed rates ranging from 2.2 Fixed rates ranging from 2.4
without repayable on 0.36%-1.38% per annum 0.36%-1.38% per annum
demand clause
b 1% B SRR R 1R N FEHE0.36%Z1.38% NFERN*0.36%%E1.38%
ZEEREMEE Z B EH = 2 [EE 7 &
49.2 110.8
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Maturity profile:

The repayment terms of the borrowings without taking into
consideration the effect of repayable on demand clause are as
follows:

EEENRE DN (&)

FIEIBER -

I EARREREEGTOZET  EE
REFRHERUNT

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H
2023 2022
—EB=F ===
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEBTT
Within 1 year PM1ER 22.8 61.4
Between 1 and 2 years 1E2F 7 H 14.7 23.1
Between 2 and 5 years 2E5F 2 [H 10.5 25.1
Over 5 years S5 E 1.2 1.2
49.2 110.8
Currency denomination: BEME1E -
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -4
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEBT
Hong Kong dollars BIT 7.2 10.8
United States dollars ETT 39.8 97.5
Japanese Yen H 2.2 2.5
49.2 110.8
Details of the borrowings are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated fEEF BN A M IEIRE M E21 -

financial statements.

Charges on Group assets

Except for other borrowings of approximately HK$2.2 million as at 31
December 2023 (as at 31 December 2022: bank and other
borrowings of approximately HK$2.5 million), which was secured by
personal guarantee of a non-controlling interest of the Group, bank
borrowings were secured by certain property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and a bank deposit of the Group.

EEEEKRHF
BR-_E-_=F+_A=1+—HzHEMEE
HNR2EEBT(MN-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—
BH:RITEREMEELN258E8T) AKRE
E eI R e 2 B A ERIER TN - RITE
BEYUAEEETYWE  BERKE  FH
EENR—BRITFRERR -

RERRZERARAR | —T-=FF#K
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEEBS®WE DM (&)

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for borrowings
are as follows:

IEEZCEMEEZREEN T

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$ million HK$ million
BEABT BEBTT
Property, plant and equipment %% - BB M&RE 15.6 19.0
Right-of-use assets FERAEEE 26.7 27.9
Bank deposit RITIF 12.0 11.7
54.3 58.6
Gearing ratio BEBEHZE

The gearing ratio was calculated as net debt (i.e. borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents) divided by total equity. The gearing ratio
was not applicable to the Group as at 31 December 2023 and as at
31 December 2022.

Foreign currency exposure

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi (“RMB"). The
Group currently does not deploy a foreign currency hedging policy.

The Group primarily sourced its raw materials in the PRC. The related
currency exposure with respect to RMB is managed through
increasing revenue denominated in the same currency.

Capital commitments and contingent liabilities

Details of the capital commitments as at 31 December 2023 and as
at 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group has no material contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2023 (as at 31 December 2022: same).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Reflecting on 2023, the global economy encountered both challenges
and opportunities in a highly volatile global market. Central banks in
multiple countries persisted in raising interest rates but struggled to
curb overall inflation levels. Geopolitical issues continued to intensify,
and the implementation of unexpected contractionary monetary
policies further impeded global economic recovery. Confronted with
ongoing global economic pressures, consumers tended to adopt a
conservative approach to cope with uncertainties, resulting in weak
market demand and a challenging business environment. However,
the re-establishment of global logistics and transportation networks
in the post-pandemic era, coupled with the gradual reopening of
borders, accelerated the resurgence of international tourism, leading
to an overall improvement in the tourism industry. This favourable
trend contributed to the growth in business results of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Hospitality Supplies Business

According to the recent data released by UNWTO, the overall
performance of international tourism improved, with nearly 1.3
billion international arrivals in 2023, representing a year-on-year
increase of 33.9%, and reaching 88% of the pre-pandemic level in
2019. Despite the macroeconomic drag on consumer demand,
resulting in a slower-than-expected growth of the tourism industry,
the global tourism industry demonstrated a steady recovery in 2023
possessing an increase in market demand for hospitality supplies
products during the year.

Revenue from the Group’s hospitality supplies business for the year
ended 31 December 2023 increased by 23.3% to approximately
HK$1,697.2 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$1,376.9 million), which contributed 82.1% (for
the year ended 31 December 2022: 76.8%) to the Group’s total
revenue. Gross profit from the hospitality supplies business increased
by 26.4% to approximately HK$410.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$324.7 million). The segment’s gross profit margin
increased by 0.6 percentage points to 24.2% for the year ended 31
December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: 23.6%).

Hospitality supplies business revenues for the year ended 31
December 2023 from the PRC, Hong Kong, the North America,
Europe, other Asia Pacific region and Australia were approximately
HK$547.8 million, HK$182.6 million, HK$250.9 million, HK$262.1
million, HK$357.0 million and HK$91.4 million (for the year ended
31 December 2022: approximately HK$350.4 million, HK$175.9
million, HK$183.3 million, HK$251.0 million, HK$262.2 million and
HK$151.0 million) respectively, accounted for 32.3%, 10.8%,
14.8%, 15.4%, 21.0% and 5.4% (for the year ended 31 December
2022: 25.4%, 12.8%, 13.3%, 18.2%, 19.0% and 11.0%) of the
total hospitality supplies business segment revenue respectively.

EEBN®WR DN (E)

BEHREMER

RIREE A B Rk A 4D B A ) BUE
BRKEBREBRBAEMNE  —T-=FF
SRR B A ORI T3ME - IR F IR 033.9% 0 A
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EEEBE mEHAEERERBEEMNTR
RERFFTIEM -
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NEBE AL SR EREBKA LEFA23.3%
EN1,6972EEAR T (BEZE-_F+=
A=+—HBLFE : #1376 9585 T) °
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S8BT 2621888 357.08 88T
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=+—HIEEE : 435048887 1759
BEBIIL 18338 BT 251.08 858
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBEN®WK D (&)

Hospitality supplies business segment
revenue by geographical location

0.3% 14.8%
21.0% 19.0%
11.0%
12.8%

® The PRC HE]
® Hong Kong #Hi#
©® North America 1t3

Europe BM

Operating Supplies and Equipment Business

In the recently released China Construction Pipeline Trend Report
from Lodging Econometrics, analysts reported that there were 683
new hotels/106,463 rooms opened in China in 2023. The country’s
total hotel construction pipeline, as of the end of 2023, stands at
3,788 projects with 691,772 rooms. Revenue from the Group's OS&E
business was approximately HK$193.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing an increase of 29.4% as compared
with approximately HK$149.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, and representing 9.4% (for the year ended 31
December 2022: 8.3%) of the Group’s total revenue. Gross profit
from the OS&E business increased by 31.0% to approximately
HK$47.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year
ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$36.1 million). The
segment’s gross profit margin increased 0.3 percentage points to
24.5% for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31
December 2022: 24.2%).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, OS&E business revenues from
the PRC and other markets were approximately HK$141.3 million and
HK$52.0 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$103.2 million and HK$46.2 million) respectively,
representing 73.1% and 26.9% (for the year ended 31 December
2022: 69.1% and 30.9%) of the total OS&E business segment
revenue respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Operating supplies and equipment business
segment revenue by geographical location

30.9%

® The PRC A

The Group will continue to be driven by the market demand, further
optimise product categories and quality, and adjust product mix
strategy. This will not only consolidate the long-term and stable
cooperative partnership with the hospitality industry but also extend
business cooperation to explore the underlying demands in the OS&E
business. The Group aims to expand the scale of replenishment
business to achieve a sustainable cooperation model. Additionally,
the Group will actively seize the development opportunities in the
hotel construction projects in Southeast Asia and further expand the
customer base to unleash the potential growth of OS&E business.

Health Care and Hygienic Products Business

The Group is dedicated to the production of high-quality health care
and hygienic products and disposable infection control products to
meet diverse demands in the market. As the impacts of the COVID-19
pandemic waned, the market demand for pandemic prevention-
related products slumped, shifting the market supply and demand
structure and adversely affecting the revenue of this business
segment in 2023. The Group will continue to guard consumers’
health in the post-pandemic era by re-examining and repositioning
the development plan of the business segment based on market
demand and actively enriching the categories and services of existing
health care and hygienic products. Meanwhile, the Group will
continue to explore the potential needs of our customers and better
adapt to the changes in the market with diversified products, so as to
ensure sustainable operation.

Revenue from the Group’s health care and hygienic products business
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$176.8
million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$266.7 million), which contributed 8.5% (for the year ended 31
December 2022: 14.9%) of the Group's total revenue. Gross profit
from the health care and hygienic products business was
approximately HK$44.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$64.0
million). The segment’s gross profit margin increased 0.9 percentage
points to 24.9% for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year
ended 31 December 2022: 24.0%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEEBSN®WR DM (&)

With the post-pandemic era, there was sharp decrease of demand for
anti-epidemic products in Hong Kong. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the revenue of health care and hygienic products
business from Hong Kong was approximately HK$4.3 million (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$77.7 million),
representing 2.4% (for the year ended 31 December 2022: 29.1%)
of the total health care and hygienic products business segment
revenue. The Group continued to drive the health care and hygienic
products business development in other regions. For the year ended
31 December 2023, the revenues of health care and hygienic
products business from the North America and other markets were
approximately HK$162.4 million and HK$10.1 million (for the year
ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$154.7 million and
HK$34.3 million) respectively, representing 91.9% and 5.7% (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: 58.0% and 12.9%) of the total
health care and hygienic products business segment revenue
respectively.

Health care and hygienic products business
segment revenue by geographical location

] 12.9%
57% S o 91.9%
20 B 2023
—=_=

® North America 1t

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

The Group is aiming to become an excellent international corporate
brand specialising in hospitality supplies and personal care products,
create maximum value for stakeholders, and support ecology for
sustainable development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Opportunities and challenges co-exist in the global
tourism industry

Looking ahead to 2024, the global economy will continue to face
numerous risks and challenges, including escalating geopolitical
tensions, weak trade growth, persistently high core inflation, and
rising financial vulnerabilities. These factors will exert significant
downward pressure on the global economy, impacting consumer
demand and travel intentions within the tourism industry. Despite
these challenges, opportunities for development still exist in the
tourism sector. According to the first World Tourism Barometer
released by the UNWTO in 2024, international tourism is expected to
fully recover pre-pandemic levels in 2024, with initial estimates
pointing to 2% growth above 2019 levels, subject to the pace of
recovery in Asia and the evolution of existing economic and
geopolitical downside risks. The Group acknowledges the numerous
challenges expected in 2024, but also recognises the steady growth
potential for future business development. To mitigate the effects of
hidden global fluctuations, the Group will continue implementing
flexible measures in its operations.

Leverage Cambodia plant to navigate global
economic challenges

To navigate the challenges of the global economy, international
businesses increasingly faced with cost pressures, including trade
tariffs and raw material supply. To mitigate these pressures and explore
the emerging markets like Southeast Asia, the Group has strategically
initiated operations at our first Southeast Asia-oriented production line
in Cambodia a few years ago. Over time, we have continually
developed our production capabilities by expanding into liquid
products, socks and handbags, aiming to achieve cost-efficiency in our
manufacturing process. Looking ahead, the Group will remain
committed to leveraging our presence in Cambodia to further optimise
our manufacturing processes and enhance our competitiveness in the
region. We are dedicated to continuously adapting to market
dynamics, identifying new opportunities, and solidifying our position
as a leading manufacturer and supplier of hospitality supplies in the
global marketplace.

Continuously developing green products in
response to environmental protection

In response to the rising environmental awareness and standards
among governments and various sectors of society and the growing
recognition of environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
considerations in creating sustainable value, the Group has been
committed to the research and development of green products to
meet the demands of local governments and customers for
sustainable governance and operational models. We actively strive to
incorporate more environmentally friendly materials in manufacturing
hospitality supplies products and health care and hygienic products,
thereby accelerating the design and production processes of green
products. The Group continues to pay attention to the trend of ESG,
flexibly implements the concept of environmental protection and
actively fulfils social and corporate responsibilities. We aim to realise
our vision of sustainable industrial chain and green enterprise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEEBS®WE DM (&)

Extend long-term business partnerships to achieve
win-win outcomes

The Group’s sustained growth is rooted in the enduring support of
our business partners. Building on our excellent track record, the
Group is committed to meeting the needs of our existing customers
for hospitality supplies, fostering long-term relationships through
top-quality products and services. Moving forward, the Group will
explore opportunities to expand the business scope with existing
customers by broadening our offerings of products, services and
comprehensive solution to enhance customer loyalty and cooperation.
At the same time, the Group will continue to maintain and expand its
customer base, establish long-term and stable cooperative
relationships, and promote cross-regional business cooperation to
create a mutually beneficial business model.

Pragmatic and flexible development strategies
safeguards brand value

The world economy and business environment are ever-changing.
The Group will closely monitor global trends and adjust our
development strategies promptly to manage market risks effectively.
The Group will adapt its product portfolio and marketing strategies
in response to market changes, aiming to minimise the economic
downturns on our businesses. Simultaneously, the Group will actively
expand its global business and develop new products to support a
diversified business region and product lineup, reducing risks
associated with relying on a single region or product. The Group will
maintain a pragmatic business approach and flexible business
strategies to safeguard the Group's solid foundation and explore a
broader long-term development opportunities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The total number of employees of the Group was approximately
6,800 as at 31 December 2023. The employee benefit expenses
including Directors’ emoluments were approximately HK$494.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The remuneration of
employees (including the Directors and senior management) of the
Group are generally structured by reference to market terms and
individual merits, which is reviewed on a regular basis. The Group
also provides various other benefits to designated staff, including
discretionary bonus, social insurance or medical insurance, share
award scheme, continuing education and training programmes. The
Group also launched key performance indicators assessment scheme
and commendation annual award scheme to boost individual
performance and operational efficiency.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEABZEEHR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHING Chi Fai, aged 62, is an Executive Director and Chairman
of the Company since 2007. He is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, the Executive Committee and the Investment Committee
of the Company, a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. CHING Chi Fai is also a founder of the Group. He has been
responsible for sales and marketing, production of the products and
the formulation of the overall corporate direction and business
strategies of the Group. Mr. CHING Chi Fai has over 30 years of
experience in the hospitality supplies industry. Mr. CHING Chi Keung
is a brother of Mr. CHING Chi Fai and Mr. CHING Tsun Wabh is the
son of Mr. CHING Chi Fai.

Mr. CHING Chi Keung, aged 59, is an Executive Director of the
Company since 2007. He is a member of the Executive Committee of
the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. CHING Chi Keung joined the Group with the founders. He has
been responsible for human resources and administrative matters of
the Group. Mr. CHING Chi Keung has over 30 years of experience in
the hospitality supplies industry. Mr. CHING Chi Fai is a brother of
Mr. CHING Chi Keung and Mr. CHING Tsun Wah is a nephew of
Mr. CHING Chi Keung.

Mr. LIU Zigang, aged 58, is an Executive Director of the Company
since 2007. He is a member of the Executive Committee of the
Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. LIU has been responsible for sales and marketing since he joined
the Group in May 1995. He oversees sales in the Greater China
Region. Mr. LIU has over 20 years of experience in the hospitality
supplies industry. He obtained a Master degree of Business
Administration in Centenary College of New Jersey, USA in 2011.
Mr. LIU also holds a diploma from Shenzhen University, the PRC and
completed a course on International Business Management of
Tsinghua University organised by Yangtze Delta Region Institute of
Tsinghua University, the PRC.

Mr. CHING Tsun Wah, aged 42, is an Executive Director of the
Company since 2014. He is a member of the Executive Committee of
the Company, a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and
the business development director of the Group. He joined the Group
since 2006 to assist in production and has been actively involved in
both the business and product development of the Group. Mr. CHING
Tsun Wah has extensive experience in the hospitality supplies
industry. He oversees sales in Southeast Asia and overseas markets.
Mr. CHING Tsun Wah obtained the Young Industrialist Awards of
Hong Kong by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries in 2020. He
graduated in Seneca College Toronto of Canada in marketing
administration in 2003. Mr. CHING Tsun Wah is the son of
Mr. CHING Chi Fai and a nephew of Mr. CHING Chi Keung.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREBABZBEFE (

Mr. KEUNG Kwok Hung, aged 51, is an Executive Director of the
Company since 2014. He is the Chief Financial Officer, the Company
Secretary, a member of the Executive Committee and the Investment
Committee of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. KEUNG joined the Group in July 2010 and he is
responsible for finance and accounting matters. He has over 20 years
of experience in accounting and financial management. He holds a
Bachelor degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. CHAN Yim Ching, aged 56, is a Non-Executive Director of the
Company since 2015. She is a director of a subsidiary of the
Company. Ms. CHAN joined the Group in 1995 and was responsible
for sales and marketing and oversaw export sales to overseas
markets. She was an Executive Director of the Company from 2007
to 2015. Ms. CHAN has over 30 years of experience in the hospitality
supplies industry. Prior to joining the Group, she worked in several
companies engaged in hospitality supplies business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. HUNG Kam Hung Allan, aged 69, is an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since 2007. He is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. HUNG has over 30 years of
senior management experience in managing hotel operations and
hotel investments. He was a deputy managing director in 1992 and
an executive director from July 1997 to January 2001 of Top Glory
International Holdings Limited (“Top Glory”), a former Hong Kong
listed company which was privatised in August 2003. During the
period with Top Glory, Mr. HUNG assisted Top Glory to develop and
manage hotels/resorts. In 2005, Mr. HUNG started a hotel
development consultancy service to work with various hotel
developers and prestigious hotel chains on design and project
management.

Mr. NG Bo Kwong, aged 67, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 13 June 2013. He was a Non-Executive
Director of the Company from 9 July 2007 to 31 December 2012. He
is a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. NG has over 30 years of management
experience in different industries (including the hospitality supplies
industry). He is the chairman of the International Quality Service
Management Promotion Association and a full member of the Hong
Kong Management Association. He had assisted a number of medium
to large sized enterprises in formulating company development
strategies and establishing management systems in the areas of sales
and marketing, human resources and production management.
Mr. NG is also a guest lecturer of Master of Business Administration
programs and senior executive development programs of several
universities. He had been a director of a number of non-listed
companies and is currently a director of Advance Management
Consultants Limited and Guangzhou Advance Cultural Events Limited.
He received a Master degree of Business Administration from the
University of East Asia and a Doctor degree of Philosophy in Business
Administration from Tarlac State University.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. SUN Eric Yung Tson, aged 47, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 2016. He is a member of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. He graduated with Bachelor degree of
Commerce in the University of New South Wales, Australia in July
2000. Mr. SUN has been the managing director of Kin Hip Metal &
Plastic Factory, Limited and KINOX Trading Limited since 2006. He
has been dedicated to explore and position the products of KINOX,
an international quality manufacturer of fashionable cookware,
houseware and electrical appliances in household and catering
industries, in emerging and global markets. Mr. SUN is also the
honorary and founding president of Youth Executive Council of
Federation of Hong Kong Industries (“FHKI"), the chairman of The
Hong Kong Plastics Manufacturers Association Limited, the founding
vice chairman and secretary general of Hong Kong 020 E-Commerce
Federation, the vice chairman of Hong Kong Q-Mark Council, the
chairman of The Hong Kong Exporters’ Association and a committee
member of FHKI Pearl River Delta Council. Mr. SUN dedicates his
effort on social responsibilities and practices active roles in different
public services in both Hong Kong and China.

Mr. KWONG Tony Wan Kit, aged 46, is an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 2021. He is the chairman of the Audit
Comittee and a member of the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Investment Committee of the
Company. Mr. KWONG obtained a Master degree of Business
Administration in Anglia Ruskin University, United Kingdom and a
Bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accountancy in the
City University of Hong Kong. Mr. KWONG has over 20 years of
experience in accounting and financial management. He is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. KWONG
was the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer of 9LIVES
Group. He was the vice president of finance and management
information system of Wise Ally International Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, the group financial controller of Defond
Holdings (H.K.) Co. Limited and the group financial controller of
Valuetronics Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Singapore Exchange Limited.

The five Executive Directors whose biographical details are included
in the sub-section headed “Executive Directors” above are also
regarded as the senior management of the Company.

ESREREBAECBESK (A)

BREBEE 475 BT "FAARAR
ZEIFRTES BAARAEZEZE
2 REZEERTHEEENE - BRZ
TZETFLARBMNTmEERBITARAEEE
MEEmEELBU -BEEAB T
FRETRXHSBBEAR A G KKINOX
Trading LimitedZ EE HB 42 o A RER
KRR EMKINOXER EA —FRNFEKE
BKMEPRERERERTEZELERHH
B - REAMKESNEREER - FREE
NeEEALFxHEs ([BAIERE])EFZL
BgvHEREEXF BALEBERES
ERABZER BAB00EFHEBHET 2
AleglerRWER AEELEERRIE
B BALPHEERREBIELER=
BIXEHTAE REEBIRNESERL
BHR2EEBRPESEALER -

BABKE 465 BEZZEZ—FRAARQA
LEBUFEHNTEZ -FAARAEREZE
EXR TAREZZES FHEZEESRE
BZEEKE - BB EREBAnglia Ruskin
UniversityBX 158 T s BB 18 T 20 KR F B
MASRBEedIHEEE T2 - Bi4E
BEMOF SR BEELR - BAEA
A AEREABSTARETMAET2E
FEE - B EY AILIVESEE 2 B IS8 E
NEBBE - FEETRFREBZERERA
A (ERONBEBHERIMBER AR ER
M2 BREBEMAGHBEE =
LR (BB BERARZEENBHEER
TSIBE FIERAR AT (KRR DRI INE R
SHARABIERE™M) 2B -

AERTESCEEFBHNEXATE
EI0E REN/ARAZEMEEASR -

RERRZERARAR | —T-=FF#K

23



24

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEHRE

The Directors of Ming Fai International Holdings Limited are pleased
to present their annual report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in manufacturing and trading of hospitality
supplies products, trading of operating supplies and equipment and
manufacturing and trading of health care and hygienic products.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Group are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
Results

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 152 of this
annual report.

Dividend policy

The Board intend to strike a balance between maintaining sufficient
capital to grow the business of the Group and rewarding the
Shareholders. The declaration and payment of any dividends by the
Company would be subject to the Board’s decision and any final
dividend for a financial year of the Company would be subject to the
Shareholders’ approval. The decision to declare or to pay any
dividend, and the amount of any dividends, will depend on the
Group's earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and
availability, and any other factors the Board may consider relevant.
These factors and the payment of dividends is at the discretion of the
Board and the Board reserves the right to change its plan on any
future payment of dividends. The payment of dividend is also subject
to any restrictions under the laws of Hong Kong and the Cayman
Islands and the Articles of Association of the Company.

Dividend

An interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per Share for the six months
ended 30 June 2023, amounting to a total dividend of approximately
HK$14,685,000 was paid on 28 September 2023, including dividend
paid to Shares held for the share award scheme of the Company (the
“Share Award Scheme”).

The Board recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK5.0
cents per Share for the year ended 31 December 2023. Subject to the
approval by the Shareholders at the AGM, the final dividend will be
paid on or around Friday, 7 June 2024 to the Shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Thursday, 30 May 2024.

Ming Fai International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

REERERBRAREETMAREAEH
BE_T_=—F+_A=+—"HILFENF
BREELMBEHRER -

ARAR/—HREZEBRRE - Ef B AR E
ENERENEE /@E@%fﬁﬁuiﬁﬁﬁz CIHE
EERmNMRE WRRERIHEREFER
REERR AEBEXEMBRRANEESE
BHBEHENEE P RKRME29 -
%Il‘aﬁﬂnlu\

ES

AEFEHEE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HLHF
EREEH N AFRFEOZI152HENEGA Y
BIEKA ©

iR BBR
EEEAEREBERETATEAAR
% B9 2 RS T4 - A4 7Eﬂﬂx,%\2i

KERBELHEARESES Z2ATE  MAR
HHREE ZEMRARE H—;H}Z,}&#J&%Z
B o FIRTORZEEMREAREMERE 2
iﬁgm;ﬁlﬁﬂ—rﬂi}%ﬁﬂ»‘%.Z@ﬂ 57 75 7R
W EXREABAES  UREZGA
ﬁm?ﬁﬁf"ﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬂﬁl@.% It ERZE KR
B RETHESTENBEAERESTSREA
B EEMARRBEIREFTE 2R - g2
ZIREBENZBERASEEEGARAKAF
ZABERMAANEE 2 ERRF -

g

ARARER-_ZE_=ZFAA -+ N\BIZHE
2T _=FA= +E¢/\1IHZEPHHH§E
BEK2.05 1l - & B 485 414,685,000/8

TC BEBRAR R R AT 8 ([ B 228
ED THAERNDERE ZRE -
EXEgRAREBRE_T _=F1T_A
=t —BLUEFENRARE BTS00

FHRERNBRRBFERS LHER - ARRH
EA:T WENALH(EHA)KFIE [
RZZEZWMFERA=+TH (EHM) BH| K
”“Tﬂxi%ﬂﬂmﬂxﬁ/ﬁ?ﬁiﬂﬁﬂng °



CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For ascertaining the eligibility of the Shareholders to attend and vote
at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 17 May 2024 to Wednesday, 22 May 2024 (both dates
inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all documents
in respect of transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 16 May 2024.

For ascertaining the entitlement of the Shareholders to the proposed
final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 28 May 2024 to Thursday, 30 May 2024 (both dates
inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be effected.
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all documents in
respect of transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 27 May 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out in “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 07 to 09 and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 20 of this
annual report.

Analysis of financial key performance indicators

The financial key performance indicators and analysis of the Group’s
business are set out in “Five Years Financial Summary” on page 05
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 20 of
this annual report.

Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group

Risks pertaining to the reliance on direct sales customers
and distributors for the sale of products

Our hospitality supplies products, operating supplies and equipment
and health care and hygienic products are sold to our customers by
direct sales, including hotels and airline operators, or to distributors,
or to other end-users. There is no assurance that such customers will
continue to purchase or maintain their purchase volumes of our
products in the future. In addition, there is no assurance that we will
be able to maintain business relationship with our customers. In the
event that any of our customers ceases to purchase from us or
reduces the purchase volume of orders placed with us and we are
unable to obtain replacement orders, our business and profitability
may be adversely affected.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
B85 (&)

Risks pertaining to price fluctuations of raw materials

The principal raw materials used in our production may be subject to
substantial price volatility and periodic shortages caused by external
conditions, such as fluctuations in commodity prices and foreign
exchange rates. There is no guarantee that the costs of raw materials
will be stable in the future. To the extent that we are unable to cover
any increased costs of raw materials by either reduction in other
production costs or increase of our product prices, our profits will be
adversely affected.

Operation risks

The operation of the Group is subject to a number of risk factors
distinctive to the respective markets. Default on the part of the
Group’s customers, distributors, suppliers and business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems or
other external factors may have various levels of negative impact on
the results of operations. Additionally, accidents may happen despite
systems and policies set up for their prevention, which may lead to
finance loss, litigation or damage in reputation.

Market risks

The Group is also subject to market risks such as currency
fluctuations, volatility of interest rates, credit risks and liquidity risks
in the normal course of the Group’s businesses. Particulars of
financial risk management of the Group are set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Risks relating to compliance with laws and requlations

We are required to comply with all relevant laws and regulations
promulgated by the governments of the respective jurisdictions. There
is no assurance that the existing laws and regulations will not be
changed or additional or more stringent requirement will not be
imposed, compliance with which may cause us to incur significant
expenditure. Moreover, if we fail to comply with the present or future
laws and regulations, we may be required to pay substantial fines,
suspend production or cease operations. Consequently, our financial
condition, business and reputation may be adversely affected.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group strives to enhance governance, promote employee
benefits and development, protect the environment and fulfill social
responsibilities in order to achieve sustainable growth. The Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant
impact on the Group.
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Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to the principle of sustainable development
and fulfill corporate social responsibilities (“CSR"”) by applying
“commercial morality, the kindness towards people and protecting
environment”. We comply with the laws and respect commercial
morality. We manage our operation based on the legal, compliant
and reasonable basics. We respect human rights, care for public
welfare. We value integrity and achieve win-win situation by
cooperation. We follow our philosophy of respecting morality and
giving back to society. We value resources and promote
environmental protection. Relying on scientific improvements to
reduce impacts on the environment, while we are seeking for
environmental technologies to maintain sustainable development.

The Group believes that CSR is not just about philanthropy, but also
a responsibility towards the community and being able to provide a
good platform to contribute in any way that is meaningful, fulfilling
and sustainable. CSR will remain a prominent matter in the Group’s
agenda, and environmental management is always an integral part of
the Group’s business planning and daily operations.

Details of environmental policies and performance of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2023", which was prepared in
accordance with “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” contained in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and had been published on the
HKEXnews website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website.

Key relationships with employees, customers and
suppliers

The Group recognises the accomplishment of the employees by
providing comprehensive benefit package, career development
opportunities and internal training appropriate to individual needs.
The Group provides a healthy and safe workplace for all employees.

The Group maintains working relationships with suppliers to meet
our customers’ needs in an effective and efficient manner. Our
departments work closely to make sure the tendering and
procurement process is conducted in an open, fair and just manner.
The Group's requirements and standards are also well-communicated
to suppliers.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through
various means and channels to understand customers’ trends and
needs and regularly analyses on customers’ feedback. The Group also
conducts comprehensive tests and checks to ensure that only quality
products and services are offered to the customers.

THE GROUP’S FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated
assets, equity and liabilities of the Group for the last five years is set
out in “Five Years Financial Summary” on page 05 of this annual
report.
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SHARES AND DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Group did not issue any Shares and debentures during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 63 and
Notes 18 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$1,021.4 million.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist under the Company’s Articles of
Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, in which the
Company incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any listed
securities of the Company.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHING Chi Fai (Chairman)
Mr. CHING Chi Keung

Mr. LIU Zigang

Mr. CHING Tsun Wah

Mr. KEUNG Kwok Hung

Non-Executive Director

Ms. CHAN Yim Ching

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. HUNG Kam Hung Allan
Mr. NG Bo Kwong

Mr. SUN Eric Yung Tson
Mr. KWONG Tony Wan Kit

In accordance with article 138 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Messrs. CHING Chi Keung, LIU Zigang, CHING Tsun Wah
and SUN Eric Yung Tson will retire at the AGM and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election.
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Confirmation of independence of Independent
Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive
Director an annual written confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all the Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

Disclosure of information of Directors under Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

With effect from 30 September 2023, Mr. KWONG Tony Wan Kit
resigned as the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Operating
Officer of 9LIVES Group.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract which is not determinable
by the employer within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors has any
interest in any business apart from the Group’s business, which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than Directors’ service contracts and employment contracts
with the Group’s senior management in full-time employment, no
contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or in existence during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision was in force during the year ended
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a
Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgement is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is
acquitted. There is appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
New VIE Structure

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 22 October
2017 and 19 January 2018 (the “Announcements”), due to
applicable laws and regulatory prohibitions on owning land and real
properties in Cambodia by foreign ownership, the Group has in place
a series of contractual arrangements to establish the VIE Structure
with the Local Partner (i.e. an assistant solicitor of the Cambodia
legal adviser to the Company, who is a Cambodian citizen and an
independent third party) that are designed to allow the Company to
exercise control over the operations of the Landholding Company (i.e.
a company incorporated under the laws of Cambodia and owned as
to 49% by Ming Fai Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and 51% by the Local Partner to hold the Land and
Properties) and enjoy the economic benefits in the Land and
Properties. Unless otherwise specified, capitalised terms used herein
shall have the same meanings as defined in the Announcements.

On 16 June 2021, the relevant parties entered into the following
documents to change one of the registered shareholders of the
Landholding Company from the Local Partner to Mr. CHING Tsun
Wah, an Executive Director (the “Change of Local Partner”):—

(1) the Termination Agreement, pursuant to which Ming Fai
Holdings Limited and the Local Partner agreed the termination
of the aforesaid contractual arrangements between the Group
and the Local Partner;

(2) the Transfer Documents, pursuant to which the Local Partner
transferred 51% of equity interests of the Landholding
Company to Mr. CHING Tsun Wah; and

(3) the New Structured Documents (collectively, the New Loan
Agreement, the New Power of Attorney, the New Blank
Shareholders’ Resolution, the New Blank Share Transfer
Documents, the New Share Pledge Agreement, the New Call
Option Agreement and the New Shareholders’ Agreement),
pursuant to which the Group established the New VIE
Structure, which was on substantially the same terms as those
in place under the VIE Structure, save as to the identity of the
Local Partner.
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Summary of the principal terms of the New Structured
Documents:—

(1)

(i)

New Loan Agreement

Pursuant to which Ming Fai Holdings Limited as the
lender and Mr. CHING Tsun Wah as the borrower for
an interest-free loan of US$2,500,000 from the date of
signing the New Loan Agreement until the time when
it is terminated for the sole purpose of payment for the
acquisition of 51% of the equity interests of the
Landholding Company. Mr. CHING Tsun Wah shall only
repay the loan, including any, taxes, charges,
indemnities, fees, costs and any expenses and all
obligations and liabilities in relation to the loan under
the New Loan Agreement to Ming Fai Holdings Limited
by way of transferring 51% of the equity interests of
the Landholding Company held by Mr. CHING Tsun
Wah, and any and all shares held by Mr. CHING Tsun
Wah which accounts for 51% of the equity interests of
the Landholding Company (the “Relevant Shares”) to
Ming Fai Holdings Limited or to any other person to be
designated by Ming Fai Holdings Limited.

New Power of Attorney

Mr. CHING Tsun Wah, the Landholding Company and
the Company are the parties, pursuant to which
Mr. CHING Tsun Wah has granted a general and
irrevocable power of attorney and proxy to the
Directors and their successors (including a liquidator
replacing the Directors) (the “Attorneys”) or its
appointees over all business activities concerning and
his right to vote as the ultimate shareholder of the
Landholding Company and has given the Attorneys or
its appointees the authority and rights to vote as his
proxy at any shareholders’ meeting and board meeting
to deal with all aspects of the management and
operations of the Landholding Company including, but
not limited to, the disposition or acquisition of assets,
appointment of officers and employees, day-to-day
business decisions, maintenance of records, declaration
of profits, signing minutes, filing documents with the
relevant companies registry, and other issues
concerning the Landholding Company which are
allowable by laws in force, and, for and on behalf of
Ming Fai Holdings Limited and as its designated person,
to collect all dividends or profit declared to him as a
shareholder of the Landholding Company, which are to
be transferred and assigned only to Ming Fai Holdings
Limited pursuant to the New Shareholders’ Agreement.

(1)

(1)
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Ming Fai International Holdings Limited

New Blank Shareholders’ Resolution

Mr. Ching Tsun Wah has pre-signed and thumb-printed
a blank shareholders’ resolution for the approval of the
disposal of any immovable property(ies) of the
Landholding Company.

New Blank Share Transfer Documents

Mr. Ching Tsun Wah has pre-signed the blank share
transfer documents that can be completed and filed
with the Ministry of Commerce of Cambodia in relation
to the Relevant Shares in the Landholding Company
held by Mr. Ching Tsun Wah.

New Share Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to which Ming Fai Holdings Limited as pledgee
and Mr. CHING Tsun Wah as pledgor and that
Mr. CHING Tsun Wah has pledged the Relevant Shares,
including all dividends, interest or other income, paid
or payable after the date of the New Share Pledge
Agreement in respect of any of the Relevant Shares,
together with any and all rights and benefits that have
been created or exist with respect to the Relevant
Shares or any other shares in Mr. Ching Tsun Wah or
any other device in the nature of a security issued or
suffered by Mr. Ching Tsun Wah, as security to
guarantee the performance of the obligations and
liabilities which is owing to Ming Fai Holdings Limited
by Mr. Ching Tsun Wah pursuant to the New Loan
Agreement. Mr. Ching Tsun Wah has undertaken not
to dispose, transfer or otherwise encumber any right
attaching to shares which are pledged as Relevant
Shares without prior written approval from Ming Fai
Holdings Limited.

New Call Option Agreement

Ming Fai Holdings Limited, Mr. CHING Tsun Wah and
the Landholding Company are the parties, pursuant to
which the Landholding Company irrevocably granted
the exclusive right to Ming Fai Holdings Limited or its
assignees, from the date of signing of the New Call
Option Agreement indefinitely until all assets of the
Landholding Company are transferred to Ming Fai
Holdings Limited or its assignees and registration
process required thereafter has been completed with
the relevant local authorities, to purchase all or part of
the assets of the Landholding Company at market
value, to the maximum extent allowed by the then
applicable Cambodian laws and regulations. Each of
the Landholding Company and Mr. Ching Tsun Wah
has undertaken to return to Ming Fai Holdings Limited
any consideration it received in the event that Ming Fai
Holdings Limited exercises such option to acquire the
assets of the Landholding Company.

Annual Report 2023

(i1i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

HEARRARZER
REBEESRIERERE
A A 2 ERRBEE AR
£ RINEHDR —HEABRE
REE -

FreE [ IR (7 BB ZE XA

REERLCHEHEBEEREL
ERAZFA LA R HEBR
NEEREAHBREMTAR
RARBEREBBBRIN 2EB
B fn BB St -

FTR 07 & #4158

ik AERERARARA AR
HAMBEELEERERA
REEREXLECERBBER
- BRERHRDE R HE B
HEREMBERDEN KR
Mz BRE - FEHEMBIK
A BRERERO BRI
7 1 2 2] S P B HE ) B ) 2
SEEREELE ZEMEMABN
HIZERFELALEFHIALEBR
EMHEZEMEMTA R
REFLEERBHERHHEER
A B B P A B R A Bl R 8 FB 1T
BEERBEZER BERESR
HEAEGE T EARIE HEER
ERABELEEEMAERBRT
HE BEFEIUNEMTANES
Bty (BH R HEBEBD)MSZ
ETHER -

Fratis R I 8

AEERARAR  BEEL
ERFAELIMARRETNTS
Bt HALHAR AT HD
WRTRABZERAR QA SE
EEANBRERN - B3 RBEY
EWhERERHEEERAL
WRARIMMBEEERTHE
ERBRABHEAZEA - A
Ko B 1% B A A8 B 3 [ #4% B 52 A
PIENELREFRL  UHE
HE R EANRIBRERERE
RARNEAREABERA
THABNEHRIEIEE -
FAELHMARMERELLESR
BAG  ERAEERBRAF
TEZMEARBRA LR
AIMEE  BRAEZRER
NEREE YR ERKE -



(vii)  New Shareholders’ Agreement

Pursuant to which Ming Fai Holdings Limited and
Mr. Ching Tsun Wah agreed on the rights and
obligations of them as shareholders of the Landholding
Company and also, restrictions against Mr. Ching Tsun
Wah with respect of, among other things, the disposal
of the Relevant Shares, distribution of dividends and
management and operation of the Landholding
Company, to parties other than Ming Fai Holdings
Limited or to any other person to be designated by
Ming Fai Holdings Limited, for three years commencing
from the date of the New Shareholders’ Agreement. If
both parties to the New Shareholders’ Agreement
agree, the term of the New Shareholders’ Agreement
may be renewed by writing every three years, subject
to the compliance with the Listing Rules.

If there are any dividends, profits, benefits or interests
declared in relation to the interests of Mr. CHING Tsun
Wah as a shareholder in the Landholding Company, he
can only transfer and assign these interests to Ming Fai
Holdings Limited or to any other person to be designated
by Ming Fai Holdings Limited, and ultimately, the
Company.

Upon the Change of Local Partner, Ming Fai Holdings Limited and
Mr. CHING Tsun Wah were the shareholders of the Landholding
Company holding its equity interest as to 49% and 51%, respectively.
The Landholding Company remained as if it was a subsidiary of the
Company and its financial results would continue to be accounted for
and consolidated in the accounts of the Group. The Landholding
Company is not engaged in any business activities other than holding
a land parcel and the properties on the land parcel and for property
investment.

The reasons for replacing the Local Partner with Mr. CHING Tsun
Wah as one of the shareholders of the Landholding Company was
because Mr. CHING Tsun Wah became a Cambodian citizen and his
involvement in the Group’s hospitality supplies business in Cambodia
significantly increased. Mr. CHING Tsun Wah has also developed
necessary and adequate knowledge and familiarity with the rules and
regulations, and expertise in the operations of the Group’s hospitality
supplies business in Cambodia through his involvement in the
business since 2018. The Group’s business in Cambodia has also
been maturing and has become largely stable overtime. The Group's
management has also gained expertise overtime from its operations
in Cambodia.

In consideration of the foregoing, the Change of Local Partner (i)
would better safeguard the interests of the Company in the
Landholding Company by having a Director as a shareholder of the
Landholding Company instead of the Local Partner; and (ii)
Mr. CHING Tsun Wah would be a more suitable candidate to hold
the 51% shareholding in the Landholding Company than the Local
Partner as he has greater familiarity with the Group and its business.
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Mr. Ching Tsun Wah, being the Executive Director, is a connected
person of the Company under Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the New Structured
Documents, in particular, the New Loan Agreement and the New
Shareholders’ Agreement which provides for the transfer and
assignment of dividends, profits, benefits or interests by Mr. Ching
Tsun Wah to Ming Fai Holdings Limited, constitute a connected
transaction and a continuing connected transaction of the Company,
respectively, under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As the highest of all of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of
the New Loan Agreement is more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
New Loan Agreement is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempted from the circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

As none of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the transfer and
assignment of dividends, profits, benefits or interests by Mr. Ching Tsun
Wah to Ming Fai Holdings Limited under the New Shareholders’ Agreement
exceeds 5% and the total annual amount payable to Ming Fai Holdings
Limited is below HK$3 million, it is fully exempted from the relevant
requirements of reporting, announcement, circular and independent
shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Risks and limitations relating to the New VIE Structure:—

o Ming Fai Holdings Limited may bear economic risks as the
shareholder of the Landholding Company, and the Group’s
financial performance may be adversely affected and financial
support may need to be provided if the Landholding Company
suffers losses.

o The New Structured Documents may not be as effective as
direct ownership in providing control over the Landholding
Company if Mr. CHING Tsun Wah fails to perform his
obligations under the New Structured Documents or otherwise
have disputes with the Group.

o It is unforeseeable that there may be change of interpretation
and determination by the Cambodian government on the
compliance of the arrangement contemplated by the New
Structured Documents with Cambodian laws and regulations.

o Potential conflicts of interests or potential disputes may arise
due to dual roles for Mr. CHING Tsun Wah as a shareholder of
the Landholding Company and an Executive Director.

o The Company does not maintain an insurance policy to cover
the risks relating to arrangement under the New VIE Structure.

In order to mitigate the risks, the Board will review and monitor the
overall compliance of the New VIE Structure from time to time. In
case if there is any major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the New VIE Structure or any regulatory enquiries
from governmental authorities, the Company will engage external
legal advisers and other professional advisers as appropriate.
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The Group intends that and the terms of the New Structured
Documents have provided that the New VIE Structure will be
unwinded and the Group will directly hold 100% equity interests in
the Landholding Company and/or the Land and the Properties when
the Foreign Ownership Restrictions no longer exist.

Details of the New VIE Structure were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 16 June 2021.

Lease of Land and Properties in Cambodia

On 11 December 2023, Ming Fai Enterprise (Cambodia) Co., Ltd.
("MFEC") and Teng Xun Limited (“Teng Xun”) (both wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company) (the “Lessees”) and the Landholding
Company entered into the 2024 Lease Agreements, under which the
Landholding Company agreed to lease the land and properties
located at Veal Vong Village, Sen Dei Commune, Somroung Tong
District, Kampong Speu Province, Cambodia (comprising 73,527.78
square metres of land and 35,770.89 square metres of building floor
area) (the “Leased Land and Properties”) to the Lessees upon the
terms and conditions under the two agreements respectively, at
US$111,485.10 in aggregate per month (inclusive of VAT and other
applicable taxes) with the rental rate of leased land being US$0.6 per
square metre, while the rental rate of leased land with building being
US$1.6 per square metre, commencing on 1 January 2024 and
remaining effective up to and inclusive of 31 December 2025. Unless
otherwise specified, capitalised terms used herein shall have the same
meanings as defined in the announcement dated 11 December 2023.

Historically, the Lessees have been leasing land and properties from
the Landholding Company to use as production facilities, office
premises, warehouses, function rooms, dormitories and employee
canteens, and the Group intended to continue with this leasing
arrangement through the entering into of the 2024 Lease
Agreements and leasing the Leased Land and Properties.

Since under the New Structured Documents, the Landholding
Company is held by Mr. CHING Tsun Wah as to 51%, the
Landholding Company is a connected person. Accordingly, the
entering into of the 2024 Lease Agreements constituted connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Since the 2024 Lease Agreements were entered into within 12
months of each other, they were required to be aggregated for the
purpose of determining the Listing Rules implications under Rule
14.22 and Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to HKFRS 16 (Leases), the 2024 Lease Agreements were
recognised by the Lessees as right-of-use assets with an aggregate
amount (inclusive of VAT and other applicable taxes) of
approximately US$2,499,000 as at 1 January 2024, and the leasing
was regarded as an addition of right-of-use assets by the Lessees.
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Shareholders should note that the above aggregate amount was
unaudited and may be subject to adjustment in the future. The
right-of-use assets represent the Lessees’ rights to use the Leased
Land and Properties over the lease term, and the leased liability
represents the obligation of the Lessees to make lease payments (i.e.,
the rent). The asset and the liability arising from the Leases are
initially measured on present value basis and calculated by
discounting the lease payments under the Leases, using the
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
aggregated amount of the right-of-use assets recognised by the
Lessees in connection with the 2024 Lease Agreements exceeds 0.1%
but all of them are less than 5.0%, the 2024 Lease Agreements and
the transactions contemplated thereunder were subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but were exempted from
the circular (including independent financial advice) and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Details of the lease of Leased Land and Properties were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 11 December 2023.

Related Party Transactions

Except the rental charged by Ming Fai Plastic Industrial Company to
the Group constitute continuing connected transactions, which are
fully exempted from the relevant requirements of reporting,
announcement, circular and independent shareholders’ approval
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, none of the other significant
related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules were as follows:
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Long positions in Shares and underlying Shares

Number of Shares held
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REROREBROD2ER

BEERMEE
Approximate
percentage of
Corporate issued Shares
Personal Family Interests (734,262,697
Interests Interests (interests of Shares)
(beneficial (interests of controlled as at
Name of Directors owner) spouse) corporation) Total 31 December 2023
R=ZB==F
+=HA=+-—8H
ERITRG
& A ¥ = EY 3 EE R (734,262,6978%)
BEElR (B=EBA) (BEER) (ZEEEER) ot 2B E DL
Mr. CHING Chi Fai 22,690,000 - 197,666,200 220,356,200 30.01%
BEELEE (Notes 1 & 2)
(HtaE1X2)
Mr. CHING Chi Keung 4,000,000 - 32,499,600 36,499,600 4.97%
BRI AE (Note 2)
(Htaz2)
Mr. LIU Zigang 4,000,000 - 20,057,200 24,057,200 3.28%
21l 5¢ &= (Note 3)
(H1#3)
Mr. CHING Tsun Wah 3,734,000 775,000 - 4,509,000 0.61%
BleELAE (Note 4)
(Hiit4)
Ms. CHAN Yim Ching - - 32,499,600 32,499,600 4.43%
BeR W )5 22 &= (Note 2)
(Htaz2)
Mr. HUNG Kam Hung Allan 600,000 - - 600,000 0.08%
FLERHE K A&
Mr. Ng Bo Kwong 600,000 - - 600,000 0.08%
SRR A
Notes: Hiat -

1.

165,166,600 Shares were held by Prosper Well International Limited, 1.
which was wholly-owned by Mr. CHING Chi Fai.

32,499,600 Shares were held by Targetwise Trading Limited, which was 2.
owned as to 50%, 19.23% and 30.77% by Mr. CHING Chi Keung,
Ms. CHAN Yim Ching and Mr. CHING Chi Fai respectively.

20,057,200 Shares were held by Favour Power Limited, which was 3.
wholly-owned by Mr. LIU Zigang.

775,000 Shares were held by Ms. SO Wai Yin Tracy, the spouse of 4.
Mr. CHING Tsun Wah.

SRR ERE R AR
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors had any interest or short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, so far as it was known by or otherwise
notified by any Director, the interests and short positions of the
substantial shareholders and other persons (other than a Director), in
Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in Shares
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Number of Shares held
BERAEE
Approximate
percentage of
Corporate issued Shares
Personal Family Corporate Interests (734,262,697
Interests Interests Interests  (interests of Shares)
(beneficial  (interests of (beneficial controlled as at
Name owner) spouse) owner)  corporation) Total 31 December 2023
R=Bz=%
TZR=1-H
BRTRA
fAAEE RikEL EEER (734,262,6971%)
2R/ th% (BREEA) (RE#Ez) (BRERA) @t ZBNE
Prosper Well International Limited (Note 1) - - 165,166,600 - 165,166,600 22.49%
Prosper Well International Limited (#/#7)
Ms. LO Kit Ling (Note 1) - 220,356,200 - - 220,356,200 30.01%
BRRUL(fiH1)
Mr. David Michael WEBB (Note 2) 44,625,000 - - 66,174,000 110,799,000 15.08%
David Michael WEBB%: & (#7:2)
Preferable Situation Assets Limited (Note 2) - - 66,174,000 - 66,174,000 9.01%
Preferable Situation Assets Limited (#7:22)
Notes: B -
1. 165,166,600 Shares were held by Prosper Well International Limited, which 1. 165,166,6004% %17 B3 Prosper Well International

was wholly-owned by Mr. CHING Chi Fai (an Executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company). 32,499,600 Shares were held by Targetwise
Trading Limited, which was owned as to 30.77% by Mr. CHING Chi Fai.
Mr. CHING Chi Fai also beneficially held 22,690,000 Shares. Ms. LO Kit Ling,
being the spouse of Mr. CHING Chi Fai, was deemed to be interested in the
220,356,200 Shares in which Mr. CHING Chi Fai interested.
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2. Based on the disclosure of interests notices with the date of relevant event
on 3 December 2021 received by the Company, 66,174,000 Shares were
held by Preferable Situation Assets Limited, which was wholly-owned by
Mr. David Michael WEBB, and Mr. David Michael WEBB beneficially held
44,625,000 Shares. Save as disclosed above, no further respective
disclosure of interests notices of Mr. David Michael WEBB and Preferable
Situation Assets Limited with the date of relevant event on or before 31
December 2023 were received by the Company.

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Directors’
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations” of this
report, as at 31 December 2023, so far as it was known by or
otherwise notified by any Director, none of the substantial
shareholders and other persons (other than a Director), had any
interest or short positions in Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 5 October 2007. The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme was to enable the Board to grant options to
selected employees (whether full time or part time, including the
Directors) of any member of the Group as incentives or rewards for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Group. The Share
Option Scheme was effective during the period of ten years
commencing on 2 November 2007 (the date on which the Share
Option Scheme become unconditional) and the Share Option Scheme
was expired on 1 November 2017. On expiry of the Share Option
Scheme, no further option shall be granted but in all other respects
the provisions of the Share Options Scheme shall remain in force. All
share options granted and accepted prior to such expiry continued to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with their terms and terms of
the Share Option Scheme. The last batch of outstanding share
options under the Share Option Scheme were lapsed on 4 September
2022, and hence no outstanding options exist under the Share
Option Scheme from 4 September 2022 onwards.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 23 September 2016, the Company adopted the Share Award
Scheme in which the Group’s employees, Directors, consultants or
advisers will be entitled to participate. The objectives of the Share
Award Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions by certain
eligible persons; and (ii) to offer suitable incentives to attract and
retain targeted talents and personnel for the continuance of
operations and future development of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no Shares were acquired
from the market by the independent trustee of the Share Award
Scheme (Bank of Communications Trustee Limited), which is
independent and not connected with the Company. The number of
Shares available for grant under the Share Award Scheme as at 1
January 2023 and as at 31 December 2023 were 10,424,000 Shares
and 10,424,000 Shares respectively. No Shares have been granted to
eligible persons up to the date of this report under the Share Award
Scheme since its adoption.
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Subject to the scheme rules of the Share Award Scheme, the Board
may, from time to time, at its absolute discretion select any eligible
person for participation in the Share Award Scheme as a selected
person, and grant such number of awarded Shares to any selected
person at no consideration and in such number and on and subject
to such terms and conditions as it may in its absolute discretion
determine.

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded Shares
which will result in the nominal value of the Shares awarded by the
Board under the Share Award Scheme exceeding 5% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. The maximum
number of Shares which may be awarded to a selected person under
the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration of
the Board and the independent trustee in accordance with the
scheme rules and the trust deed of the Share Award Scheme. Subject
to any early termination as may be determined by the Board, the
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten
years commencing on its adoption date (i.e. 23 September 2016).

Details of the Share Award Scheme were set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 23 September 2016.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Award Scheme” of
this report, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contract of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries;
nor for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
were entered into or subsisted during the year ended 31 December
2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Award Scheme” of
this report, no equity-linked agreement was entered into or subsisted
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued Shares was held by the public as
at the date of this report.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group made
donations amounting to approximately HK$1.9 million.

AUDITORS

The Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

CHING Chi Fai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TREREE

The Company is dedicated to maintaining and ensuring high
standards of corporate governance practices. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasise accountability and
transparency, direct and regulate the business ethical conduct of the
Company to protect and uphold the best interest of the Shareholders
and stakeholders and achieve sustainability.

The Company applies the “Corporate Governance Code” as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”) to establish its
corporate governance practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has complied
with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code, except the
deviation of code provision C.2.1 that the Board has not appointed
an individual to the post of chief executive officer up to the date of
this report and the role of the chief executive officer has been
performed collectively by all the Executive Directors, including the
Chairman of the Company. The Board considers that this
arrangement allows contributions from all Executive Directors with
different expertise and is beneficial to the continuity of the
Company’s policies and strategies.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report, the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHING Chi Fai (Chairman)
Mr. CHING Chi Keung

Mr. LIU Zigang

Mr. CHING Tsun Wah

Mr. KEUNG Kwok Hung

Non-Executive Director
Ms. CHAN Yim Ching

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. HUNG Kam Hung Allan

Mr. NG Bo Kwong

Mr. SUN Eric Yung Tson

Mr. KWONG Tony Wan Kit

Each Executive Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years while each Non-Executive Director
and Independent Non-Executive Director has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of one year. All the
aforesaid service contracts or letters of appointment may be
terminated by either party giving written notice in accordance with
the terms of service contracts or letters of appointment. All the
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company.
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Mr. CHING Chi Fai (the Chairman of the Company and an Executive
Director) and Mr. CHING Chi Keung (Executive Director) are brothers.
Mr. CHING Tsun Wah (Executive Director) is the son of Mr. CHING
Chi Fai and a nephew of Mr. CHING Chi Keung.

Nomination policy

Selection criteria

The Nomination Committee would assess the suitability of a proposed
candidate based on a number of factors, including but not limited to:

character and integrity;

professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Group’s business and corporate
strategy;

potential time commitment to discharge duties as a Director
and/or committee member and other directorships and
significant commitments;

Board diversity policy and any measurable objectives adopted
for achieving the Board'’s diversity;

relevant requirements as stipulated under the Listing Rules,
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, other applicable laws
and regulations in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands and
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company;
and

independence requirements for the Independent Non-Executive
Directors.

Nomination procedures

Appointment of Director(s)

The Nomination Committee shall upon receipt of the
biographical details of the proposed candidate(s), evaluate the
candidate(s) based on the selection criteria of the nomination
policy to determine his/her qualification as a Director and
make recommendation for the Board’s consideration. The
selected individual(s) will be subject to re-election by
Shareholders at the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his/her initial appointment as Director(s) in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

For any person as nominated by a Shareholder for election as
a Director at a general meeting of the Company, the
qualification of the candidate(s) shall be evaluated first by the
Nomination Committee and then by the Board based on the
selection criteria of the nomination policy. The Board shall
make recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of such
proposed election as Director(s) at the general meeting of the
Company.
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Re-election of Director(s)

o The Nomination Committee shall review and determine
whether the retiring Director(s) continue to meet the selection
criteria of the nomination policy and make recommendation
for the Board’s consideration. The Board shall then make
recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of Director(s) at the annual general
meeting.

Board diversity

Summary of the Board diversity policy and measurable
objectives

The Board diversity policy of the Company setting out the approach
to diversity on the Board. The Company continuously seeks to
enhance its effectiveness and to maintain the highest standards of
corporate governance and recognise diversity at Board level as an
essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Nomination Committee and the Board will also take into
account factors based on the Group’s business model and specific
needs from time to time. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Diversified perspective

The following table illustrates the Board’s composition as at 31
December 2023:

BEHEEE

. REZESHRIMATREESER
BNNARBBEME 2 BEER
VHETEZSFLEE -BEEEH
IRBERBEASLHEREELE
HRBRELZ -

EEgmEZ L

%ﬁéﬁé%i%ﬂ%ﬁgﬁﬂﬁé
ARRZEFTEXNB L TLBRET RER
EEeXEZTz 8 - ARB—HBR
RAEARERER TSR ZARENR "
AEREEEEREENS TIERBER BT
BENERTR HZITEEEEEEKE
Zrlt BRETRRMER  Fik  XER
REER HEK BXELR R MaEX
RFEH - RRZBEREFTENHREN
SEZEGBEARITRZHERTEEERS
BEE SEBEMEREAZRERAA
EZSTRZARBMIERE

ZTILE

TRIWTARZEZ=Z=F+_A=+—H2ZE
= BHAMK :

Designation ED NED INED
L) e T B
1 :
Gender Male Female
14 5 St g
.,
Age group 40-49 50-59 > 60
F AR 40%49 50%E59 603k A
:
Length of service (years) <5 6-10 > 11
BRBEH (F) SKIAT 6Z=10 T18A E
; :

ED: Executive Director
NED: Non-Executive Director
INED: Independent Non-Executive Director

Our ten Directors with different educational background possess
diversified expertise and skills, including industrial, business
management, sales and marketing, accounting and finance, import
and export, hotel development consultancy, strategies development
and management consultancy. The valuable experience and expertise
they have brought to our business are critical for the long-term
growth of the Group.

Ming Fai International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

HE HITEF
HHE  FHTEF
BE BN TEE

BNt EEAGTRANHESS  LH
BEZTEMBXMNBNRE BRIE X
BEE HERTHHERE St kMK #
HABERRAR  REBERREERT
FRE - WERBANEBRHEELR N
BEENH  HAKRENREEREHWEE -



The Board and the Nomination Committee considered that the
diversity of the Board is sufficient and that the Board diversity policy
for the year ended 31 December 2023 is effective.

Gender diversity

Our Board currently has one female Director out of ten Directors. The
Board targets to maintain at least the current level of female
representation and is committed to take opportunities to increase the
proportion of female Board members overtime as and when suitable
candidates are identified. Independent professional search firm(s)
may be engaged as one of the channels to help in identifying
potential successors to the Board for achieving gender diversity, as
and when appropriate.

As at 31 December 2023, the gender ratio in our workforce (including
senior management) was 70% of female and 30% of male. The
current gender diversity of workforce (including senior management)
was appropriate taking into account the business models and
operational needs. We will continually ensure the equal opportunity of
employment, compensation, training and promotion for all staff to be
based on their competence, knowledge, experience and individual
performance, regardless of gender.

Board independence

The Company has appointed sufficient number of Independent
Non-Executive Directors in accordance to the requirements of the
Listing Rules and one of them has appropriate accounting
professional qualifications. The Company has received from each
Independent Non-Executive Director an annual written confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Directors are of the view that all Independent Non-Executive Directors
meet the independence requirements as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Mechanisms for ensuring independent views and input

The Company has in place mechanisms whereby Directors can
express their independent views in different manners through formal
and informal means, including regular Board meetings, the annual
meeting between the Chairman and Independent Non-Executive
Directors, interactions with other Board members (including the
Chairman) outside the boardroom. The Board considered that such
mechanism for the year ended 31 December 2023 is effective.

Board responsibilities and delegation

The Board collectively determines the overall strategies of the
Company and monitors performance and risks in pursuit of the
strategic objectives of the Company. Day-to-day management of the
Company is delegated to the Executive Directors or the senior
management in charge of each division. All Directors (including
Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Directors)
have been consulted on all major and material matters and decisions
of the Group.
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The Board has delegated some of its function to the Board
committees, details of which are set out in the section headed
“Board Committees” below. Matters specifically reserved for the
Board, including convening Shareholders’” meetings, implementing
the Shareholders’ resolutions, determining the Group’s business
plans and strategies, formulating the Group’s annual budgets and
final accounts, formulating proposals for dividend and bonus
distributions and for increase or reduction of share capital,
determining the Group’s corporate structure, formulating investment
plans as well as exercising other powers, functions and duties as
conferred by the Articles of Association of the Company.

Meetings’ attendance

The attendance of the Directors at Board meetings, committee
meetings and annual general meeting of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 were as follows:

ESQOREANBRETHTERRZAS
HABHN ITXIEEZES] —H-BE
REBERESS BT ERARABRREHE
HITRRRZER BEEAKENEBTER
RE REAKENFEBRERZ2FKA

B TR B~ 20 KL AR A0 3K R AR AN B 05 2R
#m$¢@ﬁ’]¢% U FlERERE A
RITEADRABERRAAE T 2 H MR
N BEEMBE -

B
BE_T_=Ft+-_HA=+—RHLEFE &
ERARFEZEEH  ZE@gEMERR
BEREHHEFERMT

Number of meetings attended/held

bl 98 S
Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration Executive  Investment Annual
Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ESE  ENZBEE REZEe  EMzEE  #fiZEE  REzZEe RREF
EE EE EE EE EE EE xg
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. CHING Chi Fai REELE 5/5 - 11 0N 44 11 11
Mr. CHING Chi Keung EERE 5/5 - - - 44 - 1
Mr. LIU Zigang £y i 5/5 - - - 44 - o
Mr. CHING Tsun Wah BRERE 5/5 - - - 44 - /1
Mr. KEUNG Kwok Hung ZEERE 5/5 - - - 44 i 1
Non-Executive Director FunES
Ms. CHAN Yim Ching ReERL 5/5 - - - - - 1
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. HUNG Kam Hung Allan A s 5/5 ElE! - 0N - - i
Mr. NG Bo Kwong Ly i 5/5 33 - 0N - = 1
Mr. SUN Eric Yung Tson Ay 5/5 ElE! i 0N - - i
Mr. KWONG Tony Wan Kit Brlink 5/5 ElE! 1 0 - i i
Total number of meetings held BEIE L 5 3 1 2 4 1 1
BOARD COMMITTEES EEZEE
The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination EFegKkUEZEZES BEXLZTE< - %
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Executive Committee EZE=® - ITEZEehKEEZTE= o

and the Investment Committee.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all the Independent Non-Executive
Directors. Mr. KWONG Tony Wan Kit is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee, who have appropriate accounting professional
qualifications and relevant expertise. Messrs. HUNG Kam Hung Allan,
NG Bo Kwong and SUN Eric Yung Tson are members of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in
fulfilling its audit duties through the review and supervision of the
Group's financial reporting system, risk management system and
internal control procedures, details of responsibilities are set out in
the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, which are published
on the HKEXnews website of the Stock Exchange and the website of
the Company.

The work performed by the Audit Committee during the year ended
31 December 2023 are summarised below:

° reviewed the interim and annual results, the relevant
statements and reports of the Group, the significant financial
reporting judgements, in order to monitor the integrity and
whether in accordance with the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the applicable accounting

standard;

o reviewed the external auditor’s audit plan and terms of
engagement;

o reviewed management letter and any materials queries raised

by the external auditor to the management in relation to the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management'’s responses;

o reviewed the key audit matters and discussed with external
auditor and the management;

. reviewed the non-audit services of the external auditors and
the non-audit service fees payable;

o reviewed the independency and objectivity of the external
auditor and the effectiveness of audit process;

o recommended to the Board the re-appointment of the external
auditor and the audit fee payable to the external auditor for
Shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting;

o reviewed the effectiveness of financial control, risk management
and internal control systems involving financial, operational and
compliance control and internal audit function of the Group;

o reviewed the internal audit report prepared by the internal
auditor and the management’s responses to the findings by
the internal audit function;
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o considered and reviewed the proposals of internal audit plan;
and
o reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and

experience, budget of the Group’s financial reporting and
internal audit functions.

Auditor’s remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees paid by the Company
to the external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, for
audit services was HK$2,880,000 and non-audit services regarding
transfer pricing was HK$777,000.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one Executive Director,
Mr. CHING Chi Fai as the Chairman and two Independent
Non-Executive Directors as members, namely Messrs. SUN Eric Yung
Tson and KWONG Tony Wan Kit.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and
recommendation to the Board of possible appointees as Directors,
making recommendations to the Board on matters relating to
appointment or re-appointment of Directors, succession planning of
Directors and assessing the independence of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors, details of responsibilities are set out in the
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, which are
published on the HKEXnews website of the Stock Exchange and the
website of the Company.

The details of the nomination policy during the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in the sub-section headed “Nomination
policy” under the section headed “Board of Directors” above.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are summarised below:

J reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board;

o reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
diversity policy of the Company;

o recommended to the Board regarding the re-election of
directors for Shareholders’ approval at the annual general
meeting; and

o assessed the independence of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises one Executive Director,
Mr. CHING Chi Fai as member and all the Independent Non-Executive
Directors, namely Mr. HUNG Kam Hung Allan as the Chairman and
Messrs. NG Bo Kwong, SUN Eric Yung Tson and KWONG Tony Wan
Kit as members.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s remuneration policy and
structure, the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and
senior management, and the remuneration of Non-Executive Director
and Independent Non-Executive Directors, details of responsibilities
are set out in the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
which are published on the HKEXnews website of the Stock Exchange
and the website of the Company.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are summarised below:

. with reference to the prevailing market conditions, considered
and reviewed the remuneration packages, including
discretionary bonus, performance, time commitment and
responsibilities of each Executive Director and the senior
management, adjustments of remuneration of each Executive
Director and the senior management, and recommended for
the Board’s approval;

o considered and reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy;
o reviewed the respective letter of appointment and director’s fee

of each Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive
Director and recommended for the Board's approval; and

. reviewed the amendments to the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee and recommended for the Board'’s
approval.

The emoluments of the five Executive Directors who are also
regarded as the senior management of the Company are disclosed in
Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

The emolument of the senior management other than the five
Executive Directors by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is
as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRS (A)

FHWEES

FMEZEeh —UATER(RTEEER
KRE)REBBIYFATES FLIBARLE
RIF: RELEE  REBRERBAG
FEEBRKE) MK

FHEZE G CHAERNARE ZFMER
KR MTEERSREBABZFHNEG
B EBTEERBUFATEE MM
EreRbEE BEEFRIRFHNEZES
ZBEE E (TIE B2 P 5 5 M vk B
NE AL -

GHERENBE _F-=F+-A=1—
B EET2 TERET :

. HERMHMRNE R LIBTSNITE
EREREEABZHFMEGE (B
BEIEAL) ~ KRB 2 KR RB
B BSUTESREREBABRZE
AR - WHBESSHME

. ZREMAAEE 2 HBEK

. EHRMESERANESFATE
ERBIFATEEFCRERIRAE

IS4
. R FMEE S CBEREEE X

HREFGHE -

FAUATER (TMRAARANSREEAE)
R F R R A ISR M 37 W E -

HE T =F+_A=+—RBILFERS
BRSNS REEAR (TEEALH
TER)FMEIWT -

Number of Individual(s)

A

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000/ 7T -

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7% 1,500,000/ 7T 1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/8 7% 2,000,000/ 7T -
PAEERERERAR | —E_=FFR

49



50

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRS (B)

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises all the Executive Directors.
Mr. CHING Chi Fai is the Chairman and Messrs. CHING Chi Keung,
LIU Zigang, CHING Tsun Wah and KEUNG Kwok Hung are members.

The Executive Committee has been delegated with the general
powers to deal with the daily operations and management of the
Company, including but not limited to, setting up new companies,
opening bank accounts, arranging banking facilities, affixing the
Common Seal, issue of Shares upon exercise of any subscription or
conversion rights under any share schemes of the Company, warrants
or convertible notes.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises two Executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHING Chi Fai as the Chairman and Mr. KEUNG Kwok
Hung as member, and one Independent Non-Executive Director,
namely, Mr. KWONG Tony Wan Kit as member.

The Investment Committee has been delegated by the Board to
assess, consider and approve/recommend any potential investments
and/or divestments of the Group, which are less than US$20 million,
or 5% of the total market capitalisation of the Company, in
aggregate in each financial year, whichever is lower, and approve
each investment/divestment reaching/exceeding HK$3 million but not
exceeding 10% of the aforesaid aggregate amount.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in the CG Code. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Board reviewed and monitored the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, trainings and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements and the Listing Rules, the compliance of the
Model Code by the Directors and employees, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.

Directors’ continuous professional development

Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. All the Directors understand the
importance of continuous professional development and are
committed to participating any suitable training or reading relevant
materials in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Company has received from each Director his/her training record
of participation in continuous professional development for the year
ended 31 December 2023:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRS (A)

Type of trainings

EHEE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. CHING Chi Fai EEELAE B
Mr. CHING Chi Keung BEEEE B
Mr. LIU Zigang 27 M54 B
Mr. CHING Tsun Wah REERE B
Mr. KEUNG Kwok Hung ZEMEE A, B
Non-Executive Director FEHITES
Ms. CHAN Yim Ching PR )5 22+ B
Independent Non-Executive Directors  BIMFHTEE
Mr. HUNG Kam Hung Allan FLERA S AE B
Mr. NG Bo Kwong RIRNITE B
Mr. SUN Eric Yung Tson IR E B
Mr. KWONG Tony Wan Kit B A, B
Type of trainings: IEEEA -
A: attending webinar(s)/seminar(s) A ’2]‘7!7_/5 et e
B: reading materials B: HEEH
MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES ESETRSXINEETEH

TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on 5 October 2007. Having made specific
enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements for each financial period
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group,
and of results and cash flow for the financial period. In preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made prudent and
reasonable judgements and estimates and have prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis. The Directors also warrant that
the Group’s financial statements will be published in a timely
manner.

The statement of the reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group of the auditor of the Company is set out in
the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 55 to 59 of this annual
report.

R_ZZZT+F+ARA ARRHEMLETR
Al S 2 R ETAMERE ST ETE
FRPZIBTER - RRAE2BERFLRTE
EHE 2RESFHARZFCRBE_F
Tt A=t BLFEETEESR
PR Z R °

EERZEBAAPMBERROEL

EEHMAEREEESMBARREMBR
RIE UNEREEERQALHRRANEE
MBI AN  MERMAREERSRE - &
RUBE_FT_=—FF+_A=1+—HLFE
M HAE  ESCERELERERRE
MEFTBR: KNS EN T BB REER
REEGER  EHRIET A A & A
et ARERBELEEERUIBERE -
B RIMARE AR B I 15 MR R T2 o

AARZBM M EHAEBT B RERA R
RETEHEESN AFERFESSES9H M [ B
S AZ BRI R E | o

RERRZERARAR | —T-=FF#K

51



52

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRS (B)

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness annually. The Group's risk
management and internal control systems includes a well-defined
management structure with limits of authority which is designed for
the achievement of business objectives, safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring proper maintenance of
books and records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or publication, and ensuring compliance with relevant
legislations and regulations. In addition, the Group has established
risk management procedures to identify and prioritise risks for the
business to be addressed by management. At least on an annual
basis, management identifies risks that would adversely affect the
achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses and prioritises
the identified risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk
mitigation plans and risk owners are then established for those risks
considered to be significant.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring and
management of risks associated with its business activities. The Audit
Committee and the Board conduct a review of the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems of the Group annually.
The Board appointed a professional consulting firm with the
responsibility to conduct the internal audit function and assess risks
of the Company, and perform the agreed-upon procedures in relation
to the internal controls of the business of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The review of the systems for the year ended 31 December 2023,
included but not limited to, the Group’s ability to cope with its
business and changing external environment; the scope and quality
of management’s review on risk management and internal control
systems; the results of internal audit work; the communication with
the Board in relation to result of risks and internal control review; the
significant failures or weaknesses identified and their related
implications; and the status of compliance with the rules and
regulations. The Audit Committee and the management will follow
up the suggestions from the aforesaid professional consulting firm to
further improve the risk management and internal control systems.
The Board satisfies with the scope of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and considers that the systems
are effective and adequate.
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Procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information

The Group discloses inside information to the public in a timely
manner as soon as reasonably practicable, as required by the SFO,
unless such information falls within any of the safe harbours as
provided in the SFO. Prior to the fully disclosure of inside information
to the public, the Group ensures that the information is kept strictly
confidential. The inside information will only be shared with
employees who have a legitimate need to know and are bound by
confidentiality obligations. If the Group determines that maintaining
the necessary level of confidentiality is not feasible or suspects that
confidentiality may have been compromised, it shall immediately
disclose the inside information to the public. The Group is committed
to ensuring that all information contained in published documents is
not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading
through the omission of a material fact in view of presenting
information in a clear and balanced way, which requires equal
disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

A Shareholders communication policy of the Company has been
adopted to ensure that the Shareholders are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to the balanced and understandable
information about the Company.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
in the Company to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong.

Corporate communications will be provided to Shareholders in plain
language and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate
Shareholders’ understanding.

Information on the Company’s website is updated on a regular basis.
Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange is also
published on the website of the Company. Such information includes
financial reports, ESG reports, results announcements, circulars and
notices of general meetings and other regulatory disclosures.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their
behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. The Company will
use general meetings as a tool to effectively communicate with
Shareholders and allow Shareholders a reasonable opportunity to
pose questions to the Board. Board members, chairmen of Board
committees or their delegates and the external auditor will attend
the annual general meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions.

Having considered that the multiple communication channels in place
and properly implemented during the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders communication policy is
effective.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRS (B)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by the
Shareholders

The procedures of convening an extraordinary general meeting by
the Shareholders are as follows:

Pursuant to article 81 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings may be convened on the written requisition of any
one or more members deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have
such a principal office, the registered office, specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the voting rights, on a one vote per Share
basis, of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be convened
on the written requisition of any one member of the Company which
is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office,
specifying the objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be added
to the meeting agenda, and signed by the requisitionist(s). If the
Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a
further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board, provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolution at general meetings under the Articles of Association of
the Company. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting by following the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Making enquires to the Board

Shareholders may make enquires to the Board in writing to the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit D3, 8/F, TML
Tower, No. 3 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

On behalf of the Board

CHING Chi Fai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

e
pwec

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MING FAI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Ming Fai International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are
set out on pages 60 to 152, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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